A ANNUAL REVIEWS



- www.annualreviews.org
- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media

Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 2024. 75:211-37

First published as a Review in Advance on January 26, 2024

The Annual Review of Plant Biology is online at plant.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-070623-114005

Copyright © 2024 by the author(s). This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited. See credit lines of images or other third-party material in this article for license information.

Annual Review of Plant Biology The Plant Mediator Complex in the Initiation of Transcription by RNA Polymerase II

Santiago Nicolás Freytes,¹ María Laura Gobbini,¹ and Pablo D. Cerdán^{1,2}

¹Fundación Instituto Leloir, IIBBA-CONICET, Buenos Aires, Argentina; email: sfreytes@leloir.org.ar, mgobbini@leloir.org.ar, pcerdan@leloir.org.ar

²Facultad de Ciencias Exactas y Naturales, Universidad de Buenos Aires, Ciudad Universitaria, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Keywords

Mediator complex, *Arabidopsis*, transcription, preinitiation complex, hormone signaling, immune response

Abstract

Thirty years have passed since the discovery of the Mediator complex in yeast. We are witnessing breakthroughs and advances that have led to highresolution structural models of yeast and mammalian Mediators in the preinitiation complex, showing how it is assembled and how it positions the RNA polymerase II and its C-terminal domain (CTD) to facilitate the CTD phosphorylation that initiates transcription. This information may be also used to guide future plant research on the mechanisms of Mediator transcriptional control. Here, we review what we know about the subunit composition and structure of plant Mediators, the roles of the individual subunits and the genetic analyses that pioneered Mediator research, and how transcription factors recruit Mediators to regulatory regions adjoining promoters. What emerges from the research is a Mediator that regulates transcription activity and recruits hormonal signaling modules and histonemodifying activities to set up an off or on transcriptional state that recruits general transcription factors for preinitiation complex assembly.

Contents

INTRODUCTION	212
BRIEF HISTORY	213
THE STRUCTURE AND SUBUNIT COMPOSITION OF MEDIATOR	214
The Head Module: Conservation, Roles, and Composition	214
The Proximal Tail: A Head–Tail Connection Conserved in Mammals and Plants	218
The Middle Module	218
The Tail Module: A Hub for Transcription Factor Binding	221
Genetic Analysis of Distal Tail Subunits	222
The Structural Roles of MED14	224
MECHANISMS OF TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATION BY MEDIATOR	225
The CDK Kinase Module: Structure and Regulatory Roles	225
Mediator–Transcription Factor Interaction as a Prelude for PIC	
Assembly or Repression	227
Mediator-Dependent Recruitment of Enzymatic Activities to Promoters	
and Regulatory Regions	228
CONCLUDING REMARKS	230

INTRODUCTION

In eukaryotes, RNA polymerase II (Pol II) synthesizes messenger RNA (mRNA), a universe of transcripts that includes protein-coding mRNAs and microRNAs (miRNAs). Other RNAs are synthesized by Pol I, which makes up the larger ribosomal RNAs, and Pol III, which synthesizes transfer RNAs, most of the small nuclear RNAs, and 5S ribosomal RNAs. In plants, two other RNA polymerases have evolved from Pol II, RNA polymerase IV and RNA polymerase V, which acquired novel and nonredundant functions in the synthesis of noncoding RNAs that enter in the RNA-directed DNA methylation (RdDM) pathway (reviewed in 102).

The process of transcription by Pol II is highly regulated. Once promoter accessibility is granted, Pol II assembles with general transcription factors (GTFs) to form the preinitiation complex (PIC) on the core promoter containing the TATA box consensus sequence (21). The transcription initiation site is set once the PIC is assembled. The PIC components are highly conserved in eukaryotes, Pol II, and GTFs, which include TFIIA, TFIIB, TFIID, TFIIF, TFIIE, and TFIIH. Recognition of the core promoter requires TFIID, which consists of the TATA-box-binding protein (TBP) plus 13 TBP-associated factors (TAF1 to TAF13). The PIC may be assembled in vitro and is sufficient for a basal level of transcription but does not lead to the precise level of transcriptional regulation required to build a eukaryote. The diverse signals that lead to eukaryotic PIC assembly need to be processed and transmitted to Pol II. This function is carried out by the Mediator complex.

Depending on the species, the Mediator complex comprises about 25 to 30 subunits, which form three modules—the Head, Middle, and Tail (126) (**Figure 1**)—and a separable regulatory module, the CDK kinase module (CKM), the only one with enzymatic activity. The Head and Middle modules interact with Pol II and GTFs, while the Tail module interacts with specific TFs, which may be either activators or repressors, and is able to transmit signals through the Head and Middle modules to the basal transcription machinery (104).

The purpose of this review is to integrate the recent advances in our understanding of the structure of the Mediator complex in yeast and mammals with the work done in plants, mostly

Pol II: RNA polymerase II

mRNA: messenger RNA

miRNA: microRNA

RdDM: RNA-directed DNA methylation

GTF: general transcription factor

PIC: preinitiation complex

TBP: TATA-box-binding protein

CKM: CDK kinase module



Figure 1

The structure of the mammalian Mediator complex. The mammalian structure was selected because it contains the same subunits as the *Arabidopsis* Mediator, except for MED1 (*light gray*), and because of its higher conservation of the primary structure of plant subunits in mammalian or human subunits than in yeast subunits. Data from Reference 33. Figure adapted from images created with the PyMOL Molecular Graphics System, Version 2.5.5 Schrödinger, LLC.

with genetic approaches, and offer a perspective of how this structural information may guide future research in the function of the plant Mediator complex in the initiation of transcription by Pol II.

BRIEF HISTORY

Mediator was discovered about 30 years ago as a fraction from a yeast extract that could be distinguished from general initiation factors and had a transcription-promoting activity, but only in the presence of transcriptional activators (36). Later, Mediator was purified and shown to promote the phosphorylation of the C-terminal domain (CTD) of Pol II by the TFIIH complex (70). In parallel experiments, suppressors of CTD truncations allowed the isolation of Mediator genes (*SRB* genes) in yeast (95). Afterward, their protein products were shown to copurify with a 1.2–Mega Dalton (Md) complex, which also included the TBP (121).

The importance of Mediator in vivo was determined by using thermosensitive *srb* mutants in yeast; at the restrictive temperature, mRNA transcription was essentially shut down, indicating that Mediator is essential for transcription by Pol II (54, 122).

The first electron microscopy images of Mediator revealed its shape (5) and started a fantastic journey toward the determination of the Mediator structure (reviewed in 126). Later, others revealed the modular nature of Mediator and proposed the Head, Middle, and Tail modules and that Mediator conformation could change upon activator binding (27, 32, 117). It took more than 10 years of structural research to correctly assign the modules in the Mediator images (124, 129). Eventually, purification from different cells using a battery of tagged Mediator subunits led to consistent results regarding the mammalian Mediator composition and suggested that differences in composition in earlier reports were due to methodological differences (110). Nevertheless,

CTD: C-terminal domain some differences persisted and are likely to reflect the existence of functionally distinct forms of Mediator.

hMed: human Mediator complex

yMed: yeast Mediator complex

mMed: mammalian Mediator complex

cMed: core Mediator

Cryo-EM: cryogenic electron microscopy

Arabidopsis Mediator was initially purified from cell suspension cultures, and 21 subunits were identified (7, 91). Due to sequence divergence, several subunits were named as new subunits (**Table 1**), but refined bioinformatic searches revealed the similarities among subunits across eukaryotes, flagging those previously thought to be unrelated (14, 91). More recently, the use of transgenic lines carrying FLAG-tagged versions of different subunits and purification led to the consistent identification of 28 conserved subunits (46). The only subunits not found with respect to the human Mediator complex (hMed) were MED1 and MED26. MED1 was never found, while three paralogs of MED26, MED26A–MED26C, were identified in *Arabidopsis* (91). MED26 is present at substoichiometric levels in hMed (110, 119), and this might also be the case in *Arabidopsis*. In addition to the conserved subunits, the CREB-binding protein (CBP)/p300 histone acetyltransferases HAC1 and HAC5, a DNA helicase, ATPRP40A, ATFIB2, and HSP70-11/HSP70-12 were proposed to be part of the plant Mediator complex (7, 46). However, these proteins were not found across independent purifications of the plant Mediator complex, and we lack biochemical and structural studies to ascertain whether these proteins are genuine plant Mediator components.

The latest structural studies highlight the higher level of conservation of structural information regardless of the relatively low sequence identity of MED subunits across yeasts and mammals. Unfortunately, we lack structural information on the plant Mediator other than protein–protein interaction assays (46, 89).

THE STRUCTURE AND SUBUNIT COMPOSITION OF MEDIATOR

In the last 11 years, we have witnessed impressive advances toward the determination of the yeast Mediator complex (yMed) and mammalian Mediator complex (mMed) structures. The structure of the Head module was determined in both *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* by X-ray crystallography at resolutions ranging from 3.4 Å to 4.3 Å (57, 79, 105) and the structure of the core Mediator (cMed; comprising 15 subunits including the Head and the Middle modules) was determined in *S. pombe* with a resolution of 3.4 Å (96). These X-ray structures fit into the cryogenic electron microscopy (cryo-EM) map of yMED, suggesting that individual modules are relatively stable within the Mediator complex and that their relative positions may vary as part of conformational changes in the whole complex (124).

Cryo-EM maps were obtained with increasing resolution for the core and complete Mediator complex structures of yeast, mouse, and human with a resolution of up to 4 Å (33, 124, 129, 143). The cryo-EM structure of the Mediator bound to Pol II was obtained for the thermophilic fungus *Chaetomium thermophilum* and *S. pombe* (123, 138). The comparison between free and Pol II–bound Mediators showed that Mediator changed its conformation, the hook in the Middle module moved toward the neck in the Head module (**Figure 1**), and the Tail rotated. These data suggest a coordination of movements across the entire Mediator through MED14, the structural subunit that connects the three modules (see the section titled The Structural Roles of MED14) (123, 138).

Models for the Mediator complex and the Mediator complex assembled with the PIC were also obtained for both the yMed and hMed, giving important insights on how Mediator can control transcriptional as well as cotranscriptional events, including the phosphorylation of the Pol II CTD (1, 22, 100, 103, 106).

The Head Module: Conservation, Roles, and Composition

Mediator and the Mediator Head module are essential for transcription. Disruption of the Mediator Head module by growing thermosensitive yeast *srb4* mutants, which encode a defective

Human	MED6	MED8/ARC32	MED11	MED17/TRAP80	MED18/SRB5/p28b	MED20/SRB2/TRFP	MED22/SRB6/MED24/SURF5	MED28	MED30/TRAP25	MED29	MED27/MED3/CRSP8/CRSP34	MED14/CSRP/RGR1/CRSP2/ CRSP150/DRIP150/TRAP170	MED15/TIG1/PCQAP/ARC105	MED16/THRAP5/TRAP95	MED23/SUR2/CRSP3/MRT18/ SUR-2/CRSP130/DRIP130	MED24/MED5/ARC100/DRIP100	MED25/P78/ACID1/ARC92/PTOV2/ CMT2B2	MED4/TRAP36	MED7/ARC34/CRSP9/CRSP33	MED9	MED10/L6/NUT2	MED10/LCMR1
Yeast	MED6	MED8	MED11	SRB4	SRB5	MED20/SRB2/HRS2	SRB6	NA	NA	MED2	MED3/PGD1/HRS1	MED14/RGR1	MED15/GAL11/ABE1/SPT13	MED16/SIN4/GAL22	NA	MED5/NUT1	NA	MED4	MED7	MED9/CSE2	MED10/NUT2	NA
Identification	AT3G21350	AT2G03070	AT3G01435	AT5G20170	AT2G22370	AT2G28230 MED20A, AT4G09070 MED20B, AT2G28020 MED20C	AT1G07950	AT3G52860	AT5G63480	AT1G11760	AT3G09180	AT3G04740	AT1G15780	AT4G04920	AT1G23230	AT3G23590 MED33A/ MED5A, AT2G48110 MED33B/MED5B	AT1G25540	AT5G02850	AT5G03220 MED7A, AT5G03500 MED7B	AT1G55080	AT5G41910 MED10A, AT1G26665 MED10B	AT5G12230 MED19A
Plant ^a	MED6	MED8	MED11	MED17	MED18	MED20	MED22	MED28	MED30	MED 2/MED32	MED 3/MED27	MED14	MED15	MED16	MED23	MED33/MED5	MED25	MED4	MED7	MED9	MED10	MED19
Submodule(s)	Shoulder/arm (neck)/beam	Neck/movable jaw	Neck	Neck/fixed jaw	Movable jaw	Movable jaw	Neck	Proximal Tail	Proximal Tail	Proximal Tail	Proximal Tail	Hook/beam/knob	Distal Tail	Distal Tail	Distal Tail	Distal Tail	Distal Tail	Plank/knob	Knob/hook	Plank	Hook	Hook
Module	Head			1	1	1	1	Tail	1	1	1	Backbone	Tail	1	I		1	Middle	I	<u> </u>	1	L

l human	
and	
veast	
plants,	
in	
logs	
ortho	
bunit	
ediator su	
W	
Table 1	

(Continued)

Human	MED21/SRB7	MED26/CRSP7/CRSP70	MED31/SOH1	MED12/FGS1/HOPA/ARC240/ TRAP230	MED13/ARC250/THRAP1/DRIP250/ TRAP240	CDK8/K35	CycC/SRB11
Yeast	MED21/SRB7	NA	MED31/SOH1	MED12/SRB8/GIG1/NUT6/SSN5	MED13/TRAP240/SRB9	CDK8/SSN3/GIG2/NUT7/RYE5/ SRB10	SSN8/CNC1/GIG3/NUT9/RYE2/ SRB11
Identification	AT4G04780	AT3G10820 MED26A, AT5G05140 MED26B, AT5G09850 MED26C	AT5G19910	AT4G00450	AT1G55325	AT5G63610	AT5G48640 CYCC1;1, AT5G48630 CYCC1;2
\mathbf{Plant}^{a}	MED21	MED26	MED31	MED12	MED13	CDK8	CYCC
Submodule(s)	Hook	Connector/hook	Knob	NA	NA	NA	NA
Module				CKM			

^a List of Mediator subunits found in *Anabidopsis*. All the subunits were identified after immunopurification of tagged versions (47), with the exception of MED26 paralogs, which were identified by bioinformatics (91). MED26 plays posttranscriptional roles and is found at substoichiometric levels (110, 119). MED1 was not included because it was not found in plants by either method. Some subunits include more than one Mediator subunit name because originally they were not assigned correctly to orthology groups due to low conservation of sequence. Those names and most commonly used names, but not all names, are also included.

cold-sensitive chromosome segregation; CYCC, cyclinC; DRIP, vitamin D receptor-interacting proteins; FGS, FG syndrome; GAL, galactose negative phenotype; GIG, GIcNAc-induced gene; negative regulation of URS2; PGD1, poly-glutamine domain protein 1; RGR1, repressor of glucose-regulated genes 1; THRAP, thyroid hormone receptor (TR)-associated protein; SIN, switch independent; SOH, suppressor of hpr, SPT, suppressor of Ty; SRB, Suppressor of RNA polymerase B; SURF, surfeit locus protein; TRAP, thyroid hormone receptor-associated protein; TRFP, HOPA, human opposite paired; HRS, hyper-recombination suppression; K35, Protein kinase K35; LCMR, lung cancer metastasis-related protein; MED, Mediator; NA, not applicable; NUT; Abbreviations: ABE, activator of basal expression; ARC, activator-recruited factor; CDK8, cyclin-dependent kinase 8; CKM, CDK kinase module; CRSP, cofactor required for Sp1; CSE, TRF-proximal protein homolog.

Table 1 (Continued)

MED17, at the restrictive temperature brings transcription to a halt and impairs the association of all Mediator modules with promoters in vivo (118, 122).

The Head module is formed by seven subunits (MED6, MED8, MED11, MED17, MED18, MED20, and MED22) in all the systems studied through X-ray diffraction or cryo-EM: mouse, human, S. cerevisiae, S. pombe, and C. thermophilum (1, 19, 22, 33, 57, 79, 96, 100, 103, 105, 111, 124, 138) (Figure 1). Consistent with the essential role of the Head module, MED6, MED8, MED11, MED17, and MED22 are essential for mammalian and yeast cell viability. In Arabidopsis, loss-of-function mutants for MED6, MED11, and MED22 were not reported. MED20 is encoded by three paralogs: MED20a, MED20b, and MED20c. MED20a and MED20b proteins are 76.26% identical. MED20c encodes a putative protein of 70 residues, which are 92.75% identical to the C-terminal portion of MED20a (71). A med20a mutant was isolated from an ethyl methanesulfonate (EMS) screening, but mutants for MED20b and MED20c were not described, and we do not know whether they are viable. The transcriptome of med20a was compared with that of the *nrpb2-3* mutant, which encodes a weak allele of the second largest subunit of Pol II. Downregulated genes in both genotypes were highly concordant, suggesting that the Head module is essential for transcription in plants also. Further, in med20a mutants, Pol II recruitment to promoters was affected, also suggesting that Mediator is important in the recruitment of Pol II to regulatory regions in plants (71).

When compared to other Head mutants, the phenotype of *med20a* mutants was similar to *med17-1* (SALK_102813) and *med18-1* (SALK_027178), which is consistent with all of those affecting the Head module. However, *med20a* displayed a stronger phenotype than *med17-1* and *med18-1*. Some level of *MED17* and *MED18* transcripts persisted, indicating that these two mutants are not null (71).

MED17 is a scaffold for Head module assembly in both mMed and yMed. MED17 is similar in size to yeast and human orthologs, and, despite low identity (17%), its AlphaFold (64) prediction displays a similar structure. In hMED, the N-terminal half of hMED17 contacts other Head module subunits, while the C-terminal half contacts the structural hMED14 subunit (see the section titled The Structural Roles of MED14) and the Tail module subunits hMED2/hMED29 and hMED15 (22). In plants, the N-terminal half of MED17 interacts directly with Head module subunits MED6, MED11, MED18, and MED22 (89) but also with MED14. Therefore, as expected, *med17* knockout mutants are inviable (28). However, in *med17-1* mutants, a truncated version of *MED17* mRNA is still expressed (41), which may produce a polypeptide of about 400 residues. This truncated MED17 could be sufficient to assemble the Head module, accounting for mutant viability, but could affect interactions with the Tail module subunits, also accounting for its phenotype. Unfortunately, we lack Mediator structural data to test these predictions.

The N-terminal portion of hMED8 forms part of the neck together with hMED6, while the C-terminal portion forms the movable jaw together with hMED18 and hMED20 (103) (see Figure 1). Human and yeast Head modules are highly conserved with respect to size [268 amino acids (aa) for hMED8 and 223 aa for yMED8], location, and interactions of MED8 (107, 109). *Arabidopsis med8-2* homozygous mutants are embryo lethal, confirming that MED8 is essential (51). *Arabidopsis* MED8 is larger (454 aa) and 19.83% and 19.42% identical to its human and yeast counterparts, respectively, but its identity is restricted to the first 200 residues. Truncation alleles *ceal5* (377 aa) and *med8-1* are viable in *Arabidopsis* (51), suggesting that the Q-rich C-terminal portion of MED8 is dispensable for viability and Mediator assembly and may have acquired novel functions in plants during evolution. *med8-1* mutants are more resistant to *Fusarium axysporum* and more susceptible to *Alternaria brassicicola* and *Botrytis cinerea* (66). Interestingly, MED8 interacts with FAMA, a basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) TF, and both seem to interact in an

interdependent manner in the *THIOGLUCOSIDE GLUCOHYDROLASE 1* (*TGG1*) regulatory region, to promote jasmonic acid (JA)-responsive expression of *TGG1* mRNA (35, 84).

The Proximal Tail: A Head–Tail Connection Conserved in Mammals and Plants

Four other subunits have been included in the hMed Head module: MED3/MED27, MED28, MED2/MED29, and MED30 (1, 22). Several pieces of evidence support this view. The C-terminal portion of MED14 (the scaffold subunit that connects all modules) wraps around the Mediator Head module, dividing the Head and the Tail modules and leaving the four subunits on the Head side (22) (Figure 1). It has been reported that these four subunits stabilize the cMed (103) and also that MED15 and MED27-MED30 remain associated with cMed upon loss of subunits of the large Tail (distal Tail) segment (33). Nevertheless, other evidence suggests that these four subunits are part of the Tail module and were proposed to form a proximal Tail or an upper Tail that connects the Head and lower Tail or distal Tail modules (33, 103, 143). They are organized in pairs (MED3/MED27-MED2/MED29 and MED28-MED30) and make extensive contact with both the Head and distal Tail modules. MED3/MED27 is positioned between the Head jaws and contacts subunits MED20 and MED17, while MED28 and MED30 C-terminal helices form a four-helix bundle with the C-terminal helices of MED11 and MED22 (103). On the other side, MED3/MED27 and MED2/MED29 contact MED16 in the distal Tail module, and two helices of the distal Tail subunit MED15, residues 617 to 649, are sandwiched between MED3/MED27 and MED2/MED29, forming an important interface between the proximal and distal Tail portions (103, 143). As we explain below, the MED15–MED3/MED27–MED2/MED29 interactions are conserved in yeast and Arabidopsis.

MED28 and MED30 were not found in yeast, but they are present in *Arabidopsis*, and they interact by two-hybrid assays (46). Therefore, as in mammals, there is a putative proximal Tail module in *Arabidopsis*. Mutants of these two subunits were characterized, and *med28* (Salk_037570) mutants are viable and show irregular downward-curled leaves and accelerated senescence (112). By contrast, *med30* knockouts are inviable, and MED30 is essential for the paternal control of early embryo development. Further, knockdown of *MED30* affected flowering but did not promote senescence (62). These contrasting phenotypes between *med30* and *med28* mutants suggest that, regardless of forming a pair in *Arabidopsis*, they may still assemble into the Mediator complex independently of each other.

The other two subunits that form the proximal Tail module, MED3/MED27 and MED2/ MED32 (MED29 in mMed), connect the distal Tail module in *Arabidopsis*. In yeast, MED2, MED3, and MED15 form a submodule, suggested by their similar transcriptomes (125). The TFs HEAT SHOCK FACTOR 1 (HSF1) and GENERAL CONTROL FACTOR 4 (GCN4) recruit the MED2-MED3-MED15 submodule, independently of yMed, to their target promoters (4, 69, 137). The submodule has been observed by cryo-EM with a shape consistent with an elbow that connects the Tail with the Head modules, and the Tail is lost in $\Delta med15$ mutants (124). In plants, MED2 interacts directly with both MED3 and MED15a (89). Both *med2* and *MED15a* mutants display defective papillae on *Arabidopsis* leaf trichomes (37) and are affected in the defense response, and transcriptomic analysis suggests that they may also play a role in the salicylic acid (SA) response (17, 30). However, no other phenotypic similarities were found among *med2*, *med3*, and *med15a* mutants, leaving open the question of whether the MED2-MED3-MED15 submodule acts as a submodule in plants (17, 30, 31, 68, 127).

The Middle Module

yMed purified from a *med19* mutant produces a Middle module formed by subunits MED1, MED4, MED7, MED9, MED10, MED21, and MED31 in equimolar stoichiometry (9, 76).

Cryo-EM images also demonstrated that MED19 forms part of the Middle module's hook (124). The Middle module was crystallized as part of the 15-subunit cMed from *S. pombe* (96), also containing the Head module that displayed the same structure as the free form (79). The subunits MED4, MED9, MED7, MED21, MED31, MED10, the MED14 N-terminal, and MED19, listed here in the order they appear in the elongated Middle structure, form the plank, beam, connector, knob, and hook (**Figure 1**). The MED1 subunit probably dissociated during crystallization (96). Dissociation of the *S. pombe* Middle module revealed the MED4-MED9 and MED7-MED21 dimers and the trimer MED7-MED21-MED31 (76). These interactions were also shown by two-hybrid assays and are conserved in yeast and *Arabidopsis* (45, 46, 49, 76, 78, 89, 93) (**Supplemental Table 1**).

MED14 in the Middle module contacts the Head module by interfacing with both MED20 in the Head movable jaw and MED17 in the fixed jaw, and MED6 in the Head module contacts the hook formed by MED10 and MED19. MED6 and MED17 also showed shared domains forming tethers: The C-terminal helix in MED6 and two N-terminal helices in MED17 associate with MED14 in the beam region of the Middle module. Interestingly, *Arabidopsis* MED14 interacts with both MED17 and MED6, suggesting that these Head–Middle tethers and contacts are conserved in *Arabidopsis* (89). This evidence suggests the conservation of the topology of both the Middle module and the Head–Middle interfaces in *Arabidopsis* and yeast.

The cryo-EM structure of mMed reveals that its Middle module is similar to the yMed counterpart. It is an extended structure, with most of its subunits being helical, and therefore predicted to be rigid with the potential to transmit structural rearrangements; MED1 is the exception (143). As MED1 is absent from plants, and several intersubunit interactions are conserved (**Supplemental Table 1**), we may infer that the Middle module will also be rigid and elongated in plants.

Two paralogs encode MED7 in *Arabidopsis*: *MED7A* and *MED7B*, two proteins with 168 residues and 95.83% shared identity (77). They share about 35% identity with their human and yeast counterparts. Downregulation of both *MED7a* and *MED7b* leads to defects in hypocotyl elongation and, at the transcriptomic level, misexpression of brassinosteroid and auxin pathway genes, which explain their phenotype (77).

CENTRAL CELL GUIDANCE (CCG) and CCG-BINDING PROTEIN1 (CBP1) interact in the central cell to guide pollen tube growth during fertilization by inducing the expression of cysteine-rich peptide (CRP) transcripts. While CCG interacts with TBP1 and the CTD of Pol II, CBP1 interacts with both MED7 and MED9 and with MADS-box transcription factors (TFs) that are specifically expressed in the central cell and the endosperm. Li et al. (82) proposed that, in this way, CCG and CBP1 connect TFs with the Pol II machinery to regulate pollen tube attraction. They also proposed that CBP1 replaces the role of MED1 in plants, although MED1 is unrelated to CBP1 (82). Up to now, CBP1 has not been shown to copurify with the *Arabidopsis* Mediator complex in different preparations, suggesting that it is not a genuine MED1 subunit (7, 46).

Arabidopsis MED4 is encoded by a single gene; MED4 displays 20–22% identity with yMED4 and hMED4, although *Arabidopsis* MED4 is longer. Extra residue stretches appear along the MED4 protein and are not C-terminal extensions, as they are in MED8 and MED14.

Transfer DNA (T-DNA) insertion alleles of *Arabidopsis MED4*, *med4-1*, and *med4-2* (SALK_122082 and SALK_085899) did not produce homozygous mutants and segregated at a 1:1 ratio, suggesting that MED4 is essential for either pollen or ovule development (83). MED4 is 426 residues long; the sequence insertion data of SALK_122082 and SALK_085899 suggest that a truncated version of MED4 could possibly be produced but no longer than 235 aa. However, a viable mutant allele of *MED4* was recently obtained from EMS-treated plants. This novel *MED4* allele, *suppressors of cpr5* (*socp1/med4-3*), was isolated as a suppressor of the mutant *constitutive expression of PR genes 5 (cpr5*). The *med4-3* lesion is a nonsense mutation that likely produces a

TF: transcription factor

Supplemental Material >

truncated form of MED4 (MED4^{*}) with 277 residues (88). As in the cases of MED8^{*}, MED14^{*}, and MED17^{*}, this MED4^{*} protein might still assemble into the Mediator complex. The AlphaFold (64) prediction suggests that the N-terminal α -helices described in yMED4 (96) are conserved in *Arabidopsis* MED4 and present in MED4^{*}. The C-terminal portion of MED4 interacts with MED9 in a two-hybrid system. Other contacts among subunits might act redundantly to maintain the overall structure of Mediator in *med4-3* mutants.

The reasons behind the suppression of *cpr5* by *med4-3* are presently unknown. CPR5 is an SR family protein with RNA-binding activity that negatively regulates plant immunity. *Cpr5* mutants show alternative splicing (AS) defects genome wide (98). It would be interesting to know if the AS defects observed in *cpr5* mutants are also suppressed by *med4-3*.

MED9 is encoded by a single gene, has 244 residues, and shares about 17% identity with yeast (149 aa) and human (146 aa) orthologs. A second partial copy is present in the *Arabidopsis* genome, but it is not expressed (26). MED9 interacts with MED4, and this interaction is conserved in yeast (45, 89) (**Supplemental Table 1**). Given the role of MED9 in the Middle module, and the fact that subunits MED4 and MED21 are also essential, it is unlikely that *MED9* knockouts would be viable. A single mutant has been characterized so far, an insertional mutant (SALK_029120) in which the T-DNA is inserted in the last intron of *MED9* (26) and could produce a polypeptide of at least 225 residues. This *med9* mutant shows a relatively weak phenotype, including a low number of differentially expressed genes (DEGs) when its transcriptome is compared with the wild type (WT) (26) (**Supplemental Table 2**).

Two paralogs, *MED19a* and *MED19b*, encode MED19 in *Arabidopsis*. Both share 79% identity with each other and also 24–30% identity with yMED19 and hMED19 orthologs. Together with MED10 and the N-terminal portion of MED14, MED19 forms the hook. The MED19 C terminus points toward the tip of the hook, both in mMed and yMed (96, 143). Given that the primary sequence is relatively well conserved, their location in the hook might be conserved in *Arabidopsis*, but we lack the protein interaction data to confirm or dismiss this assertion.

Two alleles of *MED19a*, *med19a-1* and *med19a-2*, were characterized in *Arabidopsis*, and mutants resemble wild-type plants but with abnormally shaped siliques (16). *med19a-1* and *med19a-2* are more susceptible to the biotroph *Hyaloperonospora arabidopsidis* (*Hpa*), the causal agent of downy mildew. During infection, the HaRxL44 effector targets MED19a and promotes its degradation by the proteasome, reprogramming the defense transcriptome, reinforcing JA and ethylene (ET) signaling, decreasing SA-triggered immunity, and thus favoring infection by biotrophs.

Biotrophs inhibit senescence to increase host susceptibility (reviewed in 48). Interestingly, senescence is promoted by MED19a. The TF ORESARA1 (ORE1) physically interacts with MED19a and acts in the same pathway in an interdependent manner to induce senescence under nitrogen deficiency, integrating senescence signals through this interaction with MED19a (23). The C-terminal portion of MED19a is likely to be exposed at the tip of the Middle module hook, as we mentioned above. This C-terminal is therefore free to interact directly with ORE1. It seems that *Hpa* has evolved to manipulate this pathway to delay senescence and promote infection.

The MED19a–ORE1 interaction is also disrupted by *ELF18-INDUCED LONG NONCODING RNA 1* (*ELENA1*). ELENA1 is expressed in roots under nitrogen starvation and transported to the shoots to attenuate senescence promoted by MED19a and ORE1 (24).

Two paralogs, *MED10a* and *MED10b*, which share 77% aa identity, encode MED10. MED10a is the most conserved, with 21.33% and 36.57% similarity to yMED10 and hMED10, respectively, while MED10b shares 20% and 32.84% identity with them. Consistent with forming part of the hook, *Arabidopsis* MED10a interacts with the N-terminal domain of MED14 (89) but also with Middle subunits MED4 and MED7. The AlphaFold (64) prediction for MED10a and MED10b folding is very similar to the structure of yMED10 (96), suggesting that their location in the hook

Supplemental Material >

as well as their exposure in the complex might also be conserved. This might be an important feature, as together with MED21 they form an exposed surface that may be bound by corepressors (44, 81).

Sw5b is a nucleotide-binding domain and leucine-rich repeat-containing (NLR) protein from wild tomato that confers resistance against the tomato spotted wilt virus. The N-terminal coiledcoil (CC) domain of Sw5b interacts with MED10b in both tomato and *Nicotiana benthamiana*. Using *N. benthamiana* as a model, researchers showed that Sw5b disrupts the interactions between NbMED10b and NbMED7 to relieve the repression of JA-responsive genes and induce immune responses (131).

A single gene encodes MED21; containing 139 residues, it is conserved in size with yeast and human orthologs, which comprise 140 and 144 residues and share 21.90% and 25.93% identity, respectively. The AlphaFold prediction for *Arabidopsis* MED21 folding is very similar to those for yMED21 and hMED21. The MED21-MED7-MED9 association is well conserved in yeast and mammalian Mediator complexes and seems to be conserved in *Arabidopsis* (89) (**Supplemental Table 1**), suggesting a structural role consistent with being an essential subunit (29). Interestingly, MED21 interacts with the RING E3 ligase HISTONE MONOUBIQUITINATION1 (HUB1). *bub1* mutants and RNA interference (RNAi) lines of MED21 are more susceptible to *B. cinerea* and *A. brassicicola*; therefore, it seems likely that MED21 contributes to defense against necrotrophic fungal pathogens, and this may occur through interaction with HUB1 (29). It would be interesting to know if the HUB1–MED21 interaction occurs in the context of the *Arabidopsis* Mediator complex.

A single gene encodes MED31; it shares 41.22% and 36.2% identity with hMED31 and yMED31, respectively. Identity is limited to the central portion, where a series of helices predicted by AlphaFold are conserved. The location in the knob is consistent with two-hybrid assays in *Arabidopsis* (89) (**Supplemental Table 1**). MED31 is also larger (196 aa) compared with yMED31 (127 aa) and hMED31 (131 aa) and carries a C-terminal extension (aa 131–196) of 66 residues. MED31 is essential for both mammalian and plant development (141); RNAi was used to knockdown *Arabidopsis MED31*, and these RNAi plants showed stunted root growth and reduced root meristem size, phenotypes similar to those of *SHORTROOT* (*SHR*) and *SCARECROW* (*SCR*). SCR binds MED31, acts in the same pathway, and, depending on their relative abundances, forms a ternary complex with SHR to regulate *CYCLIND6;1* (*CYCD6;1*) expression and root patterning. More importantly, SCR was necessary to recruit MED31 to the *CYCD6;1* promoter (141). Determining if this interaction occurs in the context of the complete Mediator would be interesting.

The Tail Module: A Hub for Transcription Factor Binding

As mentioned above, the proximal Tail subunits of the hMed MED29/MED2, MED27/MED3, MED28, and MED30 connect the Head module to the distal Tail module (33, 103, 108, 143). In the mMed structure, these four subunits, which are relatively small, have adopted extended conformations and show large interfaces among themselves and with MED14 and the Head module. By contrast, the distal Tail large subunits MED5/MED24/MED33, MED15, MED23, MED16, and MED25 are mostly self-contained (143). Consistent with self-containment, phenotypes and transcriptomes of *Arabidopsis* distal Tail mutants are clearly different, although significant overlapping is also found (30) (**Supplemental Table 2**). We prefer to stick to the proximal/distal Tail classification, as it emphasizes the difference both with Head subunits and between Tail subunits, which is more representative of their roles.

The distal Tail subunits have been regarded as the sites for TF binding, although they are not exclusive in this role. In contrast to loss of Head subunits, the loss of Tail subunits did not affect the

Supplemental Material >

viability of mammalian cells, although it affected doubling time. Tailless Mediator cells obtained by deletion of MED15, MED16, MED23, MED24/MED5, and MED25 led to only a 1.3-fold decrease in transcription. This indicates that they are essential for neither global Pol II activity nor cMed assembly (33). Similarly, in *Arabidopsis*, distal Tail mutants are all viable and seeds produce plants with the correct body plan, although in some cases fertility is affected.

Genetic Analysis of Distal Tail Subunits

MED16 or SENSITIVE TO FREEZING6 (SFR6) was originally characterized as a regulator of cold acclimation, drought, and osmotic stress (15, 73, 75); abscisic acid (ABA) transcriptional response (47); circadian clock-regulated and flowering time gene expression (74); and, most importantly, pathogen defense. MED16 controls SA- and JA-mediated defense gene expression (130). In *med16* mutants, the induction of JA- and ET-responsive genes is reduced, and plants are more susceptible to necrotrophic fungal pathogens *B. cinerea* and *A. brassicicola* (139). In summary, MED16 is a positive regulator of both SA and JA/ET signaling pathways.

More recently, MED16 was implicated in the development of papillae on trichomes (37) and metal homeostasis, including changes in root morphology, transporter expression, and production of exudates (53, 55, 101, 132, 133, 142). In short, MED16 seems to be involved in a myriad of responses and interactions with many TFs that may underlie the responses mentioned above. With 1,278 residues, it is about 30% larger than yMED16 and hMED16 but shares 18% and 21% identity, respectively.

MED25 was originally characterized for its role in flowering, light, and immune responses (18, 66, 72). It is the best-characterized subunit, and we refer the reader to recent reviews on its role (65, 135). As a paradigmatic subunit, it interacts with a large number of TFs. MED25 was not found in yeast, but its N-terminal von Willebrand factor type A (vWF-A) domain (aa 1–242) is conserved among plants and animals. In mMed, the MED25 vWF-A domain (aa 1–226) nestles between MED23, MED24, and MED16, but the remainder of the protein (aa 227–747) has several disordered regions and was not detected in the mMED cryo-EM map (143). *Arabidopsis* MED25 is 836 aa long, and if the vWF-A domain is also involved in anchoring MED25 to the Mediator complex, it leaves the remainder of the protein, composed of almost 600 aa, to interact with TFs, and this is precisely what has been found in *Arabidopsis*.

The situation of MED15A may be similar. Most of the first ~530 residues of mMED15 are expected to be disordered and were not detected in the mammalian MED cryo-EM map, but the C-terminal portion was well resolved and sat between the N-terminal portions of mMED23 and mMED24 (143). The C-terminal portion of *Arabidopsis* MED15A, which contains residues 1,224–1,313, aligns well with residues 702–788 of hMED15 and might also be involved in anchoring MED15A to the Mediator complex. MED15 is also larger than hMED15 (1,335 versus 788 residues). The first 800 residues form disordered regions, except for the KIX domain (aa 16–97) (120), which is bound by the plant-specific TF WRINKLED1 (WRI1) (68). Thus, as in MED25, a large portion of MED15A may remain free to interact with TFs.

MED15B is shorter than MED15A (1,335 versus 935 residues). They share 35% overall identity. The N-terminal portion is the most different, except for the conserved KIX domain (aa 20– 103) (120). Mutants for the *MED15B* locus were not described, and if *MED15A* and *MED15B* act partially in a redundant form or if they have nonoverlapping roles is still unknown. The other three loci around *MED15A*, AT1G15770, AT1G15772, and AT1G15790, encode putative shorter versions of *MED15A*, but they were not characterized.

MED15A was originally identified from a genetic screening as NON-RECOGNITION-OF-BTH4 (NRB4) (17). Three alleles were found, *nrb4-1*, *nrb4-2*, and *nrb4-3*, and all three are missense mutations of the KIX domain but not predicted to be disruptive for the local secondary structure. They were defective in SA-dependent defense and pathogen-induced systemic acquired resistance (SAR) but displayed a normal response to methyl jasmonate (MeJA). Two other insertional alleles, *nrb4-4* and *nrb4-5*, are presumed null and displayed different phenotypes that are useful for the analysis of structure–function relations. *nrb4-4* and *nrb4-5* mutants were smaller and chlorotic, lacked papillae on trichomes, failed to properly control endoreduplication, and, despite a relatively normal initial growth, did not produce flowers after bolting (17). The trichome and endoreduplication phenotypes were observed in other Tail mutants, such as *med16* (37). Therefore, it is possible that the phenotypes of the KIX domain missense alleles are specific to MED15 because it may still be properly assembled into the Mediator Tail module, while the phenotypes of the T-DNA insertional mutants may arise from malfunctioning of other Tail subunits due to structural defects produced by the absence of MED15 in the structure.

The Arabidopsis MED23 shares 22% identity with hMED23 and a similar predicted structure by AlphaFold (92). The mammalian MED23, MED5/MED24/MED33, and MED16 subunits seem to form a submodule since ablation of either MED5 or MED23 led to loss of all three subunits from the Mediator complex (61, 114). Further, the hMed cryo-EM structure revealed that hMED23 interacts closely with MED5/MED24 and MED16 within the human Tail module (1, 22). In Arabidopsis, med23 and med16 mutants suppress a dominant allele of MED5 (ref4-3) (30, 31). As hMED23 and hMED5/hMED24 "form a rigid framework of the Tail" (22), the genetic data suggest a conserved location for MED23 within the Arabidopsis distal Tail module, closely associated with MED5. However, it is unlikely that loss of MED23 leads to MED16 dissociation from the Mediator Tail in vivo, as med23 insertional mutants (SALK_119080) believed to be null alleles did not show the increased sensitivity to Sclerotinia sclerotiorum that med16 mutants did (128).

MED5 is encoded by two paralogs in *Arabidopsis*, *MED5A* and *MED5B* (also *MED33A* and *MED33B*). MED5A and MED5B are of similar size and share 54% identity with each other and relatively low identity of 16–17% with their yeast and human counterparts. They were identified after positional cloning of *reduced epidermal fluorescence 4* (*ref4*) mutations that affect the phenylpropanoid pathway; the *ref4* alleles turned out to be semidominant alleles of *MED5B* (115). For this reason, *MED5A* was originally named *REF4 RESEMBLING 1* (*RFR1*). While the double *med5a med5b* mutants are relatively normal, the semidominant alleles of *MED5B* interfere with the activity of the TF PRODUCTION OF ANTHOCYANIN PIGMENT 1 (PAP1), which is a positive regulator of the phenylpropanoid pathway. When *ref4-3* is the only functional allele (*ref4-3/med5b*, *med5a/med5a*), it leads to a strong dwarf phenotype (13). A possible interpretation would be that MED5B G383S has to be assembled in the Mediator complex to exert its effects, and MED5A and MED5B wild-type proteins compete for assembly into the Mediator distal Tail module.

MED5A and MED5B repress the phenylpropanoid metabolism indirectly by upregulating a pair of F-box proteins that promote the degradation of phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL), the first enzyme in the phenylpropanoid pathway (12, 67). They also promote the expression of defense genes against necrotrophic fungi (127). Unfortunately, the direct transcriptional targets of MED5A and MED5B and how they achieve their roles are currently unknown.

Interestingly, cyclin-dependent kinase 8 (CDK8) loss-of-function alleles also suppressed some of the phenotypes of *ref4-3* mutants (90). The *cdk8* alleles suppressed the SA hyperaccumulation and the stunted growth and partially restored the transcriptome. More importantly, a kinase dead mutant of CDK8 carrying a D176A substitution did not complement *cdk8* loss of function, underscoring the importance of the CDK8 kinase.

CDK8: cyclin-dependent kinase 8

The Structural Roles of MED14

ABRE: ABA-responsive element

Supplemental Material >

The latest advances related to the structure of the Mediator complex show compelling evidence that MED14 plays a structural role, forming a backbone around which the Mediator complex is assembled (**Figure 1**). The N and C termini of MED14 are located at opposite ends within yMed, and MED14 forms a central interface connecting the fixed jaw in the Head module with the Middle and the Tail modules (107, 124). The beam in the Middle module is formed mainly of the central region of MED14, and it extends with its N-terminal domains and CTDs into the Middle's hook and Tail modules, respectively (96, 107). The cryo-EM structure of yMed showed that the Med14 C terminus connects the Tail to the Head module, likely involving some portion of the MED2-MED3-MED15 submodule (106, 124). This assembly is highly conserved from yeast to mammals but with some particularities. The mMED14 C terminus is much larger and involved in further interactions with the Tail module (143). In hMed, the MED14 N-terminal portion crosslinks with MED19 (the hook), then MED1 (the Middle module) and MED17 (the Head module). The central portion of MED14 (aa 541–766), which could be assimilated to the C-terminal portion of yMED14, crosslinks with MED3/MED27, MED30, and MED15, and the C-terminal region with MED2/MED29 (22).

This structural information is not available for plants. Two-hybrid assays suggest that the MED14 N-terminal half interacts with MED10 (the Middle module's hook), MED6 (the Head module), and MED17 (the Head module), indicating that it could also play a role in connecting Middle and Head modules with the Tail module (**Supplemental Table 1**). We lack structural information about the MED14 C-terminal portion, which is larger than yMED14 and mMED14, and genetic evidence suggests a role in connecting with the Tail module, as we discuss below.

In Arabidopsis, only two viable mutant alleles of MED14 were found. The struwwelpeter (swp) mutant carries a T-DNA insertion 250 base pairs (bp) upstream of the start codon and produces a larger transcript of MED14 mRNA, starting within the T-DNA itself (6). It is recessive and therefore expected to be a loss-of-function or hypomorphic allele. Several other insertional mutants in the coding region of MED14 were inviable (140); thus, it is likely that some MED14 protein is produced in *swp*, but reduced levels lead to a series of defects: reduced leaf size and number, increased cell size, dwarfism, stem fasciation, reduced cell number throughout development, a defect in meristem maintenance, and progressive loss of shoot apical meristem organization (6). The second viable allele med14-1 carries a T-DNA insertion (line SAIL_373_C07) close to the end of the sixth exon, while the other three insertional mutants, carrying insertions in exons further upstream than med14-1, were not viable in homozygosity (140), consistent with MED14 being essential for Mediator assembly. The T-DNA insertion site in med14-1 suggests that a truncated MED14 protein (MED14*) is produced. WT MED14 is 1,703 aa long while MED14* is expected to be at least 1,072 aa (10). Analysis of public RNA sequencing data reveals that the shorter transcript produced in med14-1 is expressed at similar levels to the WT. Phenotypes reported for swp and med14-1 are very different (6, 140). med14-1 mutants were paler and their leaves flatter than the WT but otherwise looked relatively normal. However, they show decreased responsiveness to SA and are unable to establish SAR (140). Distal Tail mutants med15a, med15b, and med16 are also compromised in plant immunity and SAR (17, 139, 140). The transcriptome changes in med14-1 mutants show a high degree of overlap with the transcriptome of med16 Tail mutants; 92% of DEGs in med14-1 mutants also are DEGs in med16 mutants (140); med14-1, med16, and med2 are defective in the recruitment of Pol II to CBF-responsive cold-regulated genes (52) and these three Mediator subunits specifically promote transcriptional responses to ABA through the ABA-responsive element (ABRE) motif (80). These similarities between med14-1 and Tail mutants suggest that MED14* might be sufficient to assemble Head and Middle modules but defective in the correct assembly

or the functioning of the Tail components because of the absence of its CTD. More biochemical and structural work is needed to support these propositions.

MECHANISMS OF TRANSCRIPTIONAL REGULATION BY MEDIATOR

The CDK Kinase Module: Structure and Regulatory Roles

The CDK8 module, also known as the CKM, is composed of four subunits: MED12, MED13, CDK8, and CYCLIN C (CycC). Two paralogs encode CycC in *Arabidopsis*: *CycC1*;1 and *CycC1*;2. The roles of these genes and the phenotypes of the corresponding mutants were recently reviewed (2). In this section and henceforth, we focus on the molecular aspects of both the positive and negative roles of the CKM in transcription.

In *S. pombe*, the CKM binds to Mediator and blocks its interactions with Pol II (34). Also, in preparations of mMed, Mediator interacts with either Pol II or the CKM but not with both simultaneously (33). With purified recombinant preparations of the yCKM, yMed, and Pol II, it was recently shown that Pol II competes with the CKM for Mediator binding. Cross-linking experiments also show extensive surface interactions between MED12 and MED13 with the knob and hook domains of the Middle module and CDK8 and CycC with the Head-neck and moveable jaw domains, respectively, clearly showing why CKM-bound Mediator does not assemble into a PIC (97). Further, in vitro, CDK8 phosphorylates residues in the interface of the CKM and Mediator, weakening the interaction and releasing the CKM. In vivo, inhibition of CDK8 activity abolishes gene induction in response to heat shock but not the expression of nonresponsive genes, demonstrating a positive role for the CKM, and for CDK8 activity, in the induction of transcription after a stimulus (97).

A cryo-EM map of the yCKM at near-atomic resolution was recently reported (85). It revealed that MED12 functions as a scaffold that connects Cdk8 and CycC through its N-terminal portion, which is important to stimulate CDK8 kinase activity. The extended conformation of the CKM exposes a large surface that can be bound by TFs that offer an opportunity to regulate CDK8 kinase activity. On the opposing face, the complex contacts Middle and Head modules in surfaces that also bind Pol II and TFIIH (see the section titled Mediator-Dependent Recruitment of Enzymatic Activities to Promoters and Regulatory Regions) and thus block PIC assembly. At one end of the structure, the position of CDK8, close to the Head movable jaw and the proximal Tail module, may facilitate phosphorylation of Tail subunits or TFs bound to the Tail module (43, 125). The folding of MED13 is typical of ARGONAUTE, but the central channel that binds nucleic acids is occupied by a linker domain. Therefore, it is possible that the CKM interacts with nucleic acids in a different conformation (85).

In yeast, the CKM-Mediator complex is found at upstream activating sequences (UASs) through the Tail subunits that bind TFs (99), but not at the PIC. The repressive role of the CKM is exerted at the UAS and depends on CDK8 kinase activity; Mediator association to UASs is increased on both Δ MED13 and CDK8 kinase dead mutants but does not affect binding of Mediator to core promoters (63, 99).

The transcriptomes of individual CKM deletion mutants are virtually identical and also similar to the $\Delta MED19$ profile (125), supporting the notion that the CKM acts as a whole and MED19 connects the CKM to the Middle module. Furthermore, the anticorrelation between the $\Delta MED2$ with ΔCKM transcriptomes and the epistasis of $\Delta MED2$ over $\Delta CDK8$ suggest that CDK8 and the CKM are negative regulators of MED2 and that Tail subunits work downstream of CKM and CDK8 activity (125). Indeed, MED2 and MED3 are substrates of CDK8 (43, 125).

Some lines of evidence support the conservation of the CKM architecture in *Arabidopsis*, binary protein-protein interactions (60, 145), and immunoaffinity purification of the complex

Supplemental Material >

SMG: seed maturation gene

followed by mass spectrometry (86, 144). The CKM complex from *Arabidopsis* also shows overlapping transcriptomes and phenotypes. MED12 and MED13 transcriptomes are very similar (39, 86) (**Supplemental Table 2**); loss-of-function alleles are late flowering and show overlapping developmental phenotypes in *Arabidopsis* and pea (39, 40, 50, 145).

In a study, *Arabidopsis* Pol II subunits did not copurify with MED12-YFP-FLAG, but most Mediator subunits did (86), while the CKM did not copurify with Mediator–Pol II fractions (7), suggesting that the CKM competes with Pol II for Mediator binding in *Arabidopsis* also. This competition may explain how the CKM works during early seedling development. After germination, two transcriptional repressors, HIGH-LEVEL EXPRESSION OF SUGAR INDUCIBLE GENE 2 (HSI2) and HSI2-like 1 (HSL1), inhibit the expression of seed maturation genes (SMGs). Researchers suggested that HSI2 and HSL1 recruit MED13 to repress transcription on SMG promoters and HISTONE DEACETYLASE 6 (HDA6) to start deacetylation as a first step toward silencing the seed maturation program (25). It would be interesting to test whether MED13 interaction with HSI2 and binding to SMG chromatin occurs in the context of the full CKM and Mediator. If this hypothesis holds true, one could imagine that HSI2/HSL1 could stabilize the CKM-Mediator complex to block both the accessibility of Pol II and assembly of the PIC while simultaneously recruiting histone-modifying enzymes to start long-term silencing.

Earlier reports also suggested that the corepressor LEUNIG (LUG) could repress gene expression by recruiting HDA19 and interacting with MED14 and CDK8, although at that time there was no information on the TFs involved and the association of these proteins with regulatory regions (42). Later, in the section titled Mediator-Dependent Recruitment of Enzymatic Activities to Promoters and Regulatory Regions, we discuss the repressive signals produced by the CKM that inhibit lateral root formation mediated by auxin (59).

In other developmental programs, the CKM plays a positive role in transcription. The lipid content of seeds is lower in *cdk8* mutants, which seems to result from low activity of WRI1 (136). Two SMG-encoded TFs, ABI3 and FUS3, promote the expression of WRI1 in a CDK8-dependent manner, but a direct interaction is unknown. However, Zhai et al. (136) reported very low WRI1 in *cdk8* mutants. They ruled out a direct physical interaction between CDK8 and WRI1 to explain its low levels and activity (136). However, WRI1 recruits MED15 to UASs to promote the transcription of genes involved in lipid synthesis (68). Therefore, in the context of the CKM and Mediator, CDK8 could phosphorylate WRI1 or MED15 or both when bound to UASs, promoting their stability, activity, or both, similar to the way it occurs in yeast (43, 63, 99, 125).

CDK8 amplifies the spectrum of potential target TFs by interacting with other MED subunits. CDK8 and MED25 interact in a CDK8 kinase activity–independent manner to regulate the expression of JA-responsive genes (145). The recruitment of CDK8 to regulatory regions suggests that it is indeed occurring in the context of a full Mediator complex. Interestingly, in the case of the *ACCT1* promoter, CDK8 was indeed associated specifically with the 500-bp upstream region but not the TATA box. This would support the notion that the CKM is evicted from Mediator upon PIC assembly in *Arabidopsis* also.

The N-terminal vWF-A domain of MED25 interacts with CDK8 and the MED25-BINDING RING-H2 PROTEIN1 (MBR1) and MBR2 proteins, which target MED25 for degradation (58, 145). mMED25 is assembled into mMED through its vWF-A domain. Therefore, the aforementioned interactions may antagonize each other, leading to CKM eviction after Mediator is recruited to the UAS. Interestingly, if MED25 is first recruited by TFs to the UAS and degradation of MED25 is then required for the eviction of the CKM from Mediator to allow PIC assembly, then the interaction of CDK8 with MED25 may explain the phenomenon of activation by destruction (58). The CKM also promotes light-induced gene expression. MED12 enrichment increased over a subset of light-inducible genes, and this increase was necessary for the transient gene induction observed in dark-adapted plants in response to a light treatment. Researchers proposed that CKM might play a role in the induction of gene expression when repressed genes transit toward an active state, through recruitment of histone acetylases (86).

Finally, CDK8 interacts with coactivator NONEXPRESSOR OF PR1 (NPR1) and WRKY18 in the *PR1* regulatory region to promote the expression of *PR1*, as part of the SA and SAR responses (20).

Mediator–Transcription Factor Interaction as a Prelude for PIC Assembly or Repression

Although Pol II assembles with the PIC in vitro without Mediator, tracking single molecules both in vivo and in vitro suggests that it occurs otherwise. By using yeast nuclear extracts and fluorescently labeled components, research has shown that Pol II, TFIIF, and TFIIE associate with upstream regulatory regions in a way that is independent of the core promoter (8). Finally, TFIIH binds in a core promoter–dependent manner with a lag phase, and after Pol II, TFIIF and TFIIE are transferred from the UAS to the core promoter, suggesting that TFIIH joins the PIC assembled in the core promoter. Tracking of single molecules in vivo in yeast cells, coupled to specific depletion of GTFs, Pol II, or Mediator components, indicates that TFIID and TFIIA associate with chromatin independently of Pol II and Mediator, while Mediator associates with upstream regulatory elements and recruits Pol II and then TFIIB, TFIIF, and TFIIE, in a TFIID-independent manner (94) (**Figure 2**). This is consistent with the behavior of the CKM discussed above.

If this model is correct, then the loss of specific Tail subunits would affect the recruitment of the Mediator complex to specific regulatory regions. For example, MED16 is required for the recruitment of both Mediator and Pol II to C-REPEAT BINDING FACTOR (CBF)-responsive cold-regulated genes, and CBF1 is able to bind cold-responsive promoters independently of MED16 (52). It is necessary to test whether loss of CBFs affects the recruitment of the Mediator complex to these regulatory sites.

In the JA/ET-defense response, *PDF1.2* and *ORA59* marker genes are induced by MeJA plus 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid (ACC) treatment. WRKY33 physically associates with MED16, which it requires to induce the expression of *PDF1.2* and *ORA59*, suggesting that WRKY33 might recruit Mediator through MED16 (128).

The response to low phosphate requires a physical interaction between MED16 and the TF SENSITIVE TO PROTON RHIZOTOXICITY 1 (STOP1), which coregulate a group of low-phosphate-induced transcripts (101, 132). Whether STOP1 recruits the Mediator complex to the UAS in a MED16-dependent manner remains to be seen.

Under low-iron conditions, MED16 physically interacts with DEFICIENCY-INDUCED TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR (FIT) to induce the expression of the iron uptake genes *FERRIC REDUCTASE/OXIDASE 2* (*FRO2*) and *IRON-REGULATED TRANSPORTER 1* (*IRT1*). Both FIT and MED16 interact with *FRO2* and *IRT* chromatin, and in *med16* mutants FIT association with *FRO2* and *IRT* chromatin diminishes (142). It seems that stabilization of FIT on *FRO2* and *IRT* chromatin depends, to some extent, on MED16 (and possibly CKM). As in the previous cases, it would be interesting to know if recruitment of Mediator to *FRO2* and *IRT* promoters occurs in *fit* and *med16* mutant backgrounds.

In other cases, MED16 can aid in the repression of transcription. *Arabidopsis med16* mutants display larger organs due to increased endoreduplication. MED16 was shown to interact directly with the transcriptional repressor DP-E2F-LIKE1/E2Fe (DEL1) to repress the expression of the anaphase-promoting complex/cyclosome activator CELL CYCLE SWITCH52 A2 (CCS52A2).

The recruitment of MED16 to the *CCS52A2* promoter was dependent on DEL1, while recruitment of DEL1 was partially dependent on MED16, suggesting that Mediator is recruited by DEL1 to the *CCS52A2* promoter to repress its expression (87). It is possible that the CKM remains attached to Mediator in this case, and a second stimulus or TF is required for derepression.

Mediator-Dependent Recruitment of Enzymatic Activities to Promoters and Regulatory Regions

Besides CDK8 kinase activity, Mediator can nucleate events to bring other enzymatic activities and signaling modules to regulatory regions. For example, the histone acetyltransferases HAC1



⁽Caption appears on following page)

Figure 2 (Figure appears on preceding page)

A model of Mediator in action during the activation of gene expression. (*a*) TFs recognize and bind to UASs in the vicinity of promoters. Through interaction with Mediator subunits, they recruit the full Mediator complex. At this stage, the CKM may repress gene expression and recruit histone deacetylases or may activate gene expression by stabilizing the DNA-bound complex through interactions or phosphorylation of targets that may include other Mediator subunits or TFs. (*b*) Phosphorylation of interaction surfaces also weakens the interaction of the CKM with the core Mediator complex, releasing the CKM and exposing interaction domains for RNA polymerase II–TFIIF binding and recruitment of TFIIB and TFIIE. (*c*) PIC assembly continues via the assembly of Pol II–Mediator positions the CTD of Pol II to facilitate phosphorylation by the CAK subcomplex, which is part of TFIIH. TFIIH incorporation sets up PIC formation, bringing not only CTD phosphorylation activity but also the helicase and ATPase activities required to open a DNA bubble. After CTD phosphorylation, RNA Pol II escapes from the promoter, initiating transcript synthesis. Abbreviations: CAK, CDK-activating kinase; CKM, CDK kinase module; CTD, C-terminal domain; P, phosphate group; PIC, preinitiation complex; Pol II, RNA polymerase II; PROM, promoter; TF, transcription factor; UAS, upstream activating sequence.

and HAC5 copurify with Mediator through association with MED8 and MED25 (46). MED25 participates and recruits JA-signaling modules to the UAS, recruits histone acetylases, and regulates DNA looping at promoter targets. We refer the reader to a recent review (135), and we focus on other mechanisms.

CDK8 interacts with the ETHYLENE RESPONSIVE FACTOR/APETALA2 (ERF/AP2)type TF (RAP2.6) to promote the transcription of ABA-responsive genes. RAP2.6 also binds SnRK2.6, a kinase involved in ABA signaling (144). The three proteins form a subcomplex. Although CDK8 does not seem to phosphorylate RAP2.6, SnRK2.6 does. The implications are that Mediator can nucleate ABA signaling events at promoters, a mechanism with the potential to rapidly change transcription in response to a stimulus.

In other reports, a mechanism for rapid response to a hormonal stimulus was clearly shown. The work of Ito et al. (59) shows that Mediator interacts with auxin regulatory modules directly on the UAS and proposes a model for rapid gene induction by the auxin hormone. The solitary-root-1 (sh-1) allele of INDOLE-3-ACETIC ACID INDUCIBLE 14 (IAA14) produces a stable IAA14 that converts the ARF7 and ARF19 TFs into auxin-insensitive repressors that suppress lateral root formation. Mutations in CKM subunits, MED25, or MED17 suppress this effect and restore auxin sensitivity in lateral root formation. Mutations in TOPLESS (TPL) have a similar effect as those in MED13, suggesting that both work in the same pathway. But the interaction between MED13 and TPL only occurs when IAA14 is stabilized by using an auxin antagonist. Researchers studying the LATERAL ORGAN BOUNDARIES-DOMAIN16 (LBD16) regulatory regions showed that MED13 associates to auxin-responsive elements (AuxRE) only when auxin signaling is inhibited or IAA14 is stabilized by using its mutated form, and, further, both mIAA14 and MED13 associate with the same regions (59). The authors also found physical interactions of ARF7 and ARF19 with MED25 as well as MED25 association with AuxRE. Auxin signaling led to the dissociation of MED13 but not MED25 from the AuxRE region (59). These results suggest that upon auxin-promoted IAA14 degradation, the CKM is evicted and allows engagement of Mediator with Pol II and PIC assembly at the core promoter. It remains to be tested if MED25 dissociates from Mediator in this process, remaining bound to AuxRE ready to recruit Mediator again, or if DNA forms a loop, connecting the ARF7/ARF19-bound AuxRE with Mediator and the PIC.

Gibberellins also act in a Mediator-dependent manner to repress flowering. RGA binds to the TF SQUAMOSA PROMOTER-BINDING PROTEIN-LIKE15 (SPL15) at the UAS and blocks its interaction with MED18. Under gibberellin presence, RGA is degraded and SPL15 recruits MED18 to promote the transcription at SPL15 targets (56). This SPL15-MED18 module brings

another possibility. SPL10 also promotes flowering by recruiting MED2 to targets in common with SPL15 (134). When multiple UASs are found at regulatory regions, is it possible that different TFs recruit the same Mediator complex by interacting with different subunits? May this work as a signal integration mechanism?

MED25 regulates shade avoidance signaling by binding PIF4 (38, 113, 116) and also recruits JA signaling modules (3). Maybe MED25 plays a role in the observed trade-off of shade and defense responses (11).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The structural information obtained through cryo-EM is invaluable for future research. But we still lack specific information for plant systems. Mediator has been purified from plants, but this is only the first step.

Several transcription factors were shown to bind Mediator. Now it is important to understand if they interact in the context of the full Mediator, if they are required to recruit Mediator to UASs, and if this process is dependent on both the TF with DNA-binding activity and the cognateinteracting subunit in Mediator. Once the complex is assembled in chromatin, is this activity regulated by Mediator? Does the CKM have any role? What is the signal that triggers CKM eviction and Pol II recruitment? Once the PIC is assembled, does DNA always bend to join the UAS with the core promoter? Or might the Mediator dissociate from the Tail to leave part of the Tail module associated to the UAS to recruit Mediator again? Does Mediator integrate signals from different TFs bound to different subunits? When several UASs are set in tandem, does transcription increase because of the larger number of TF-Mediator complexes assembled close to the core promoter? Is this a limiting step for transcription initiation?

Some reports suggest that Mediator recruits hormone signaling modules to UASs and actively participates in signaling per se. Is this a general rule? In vitro systems following single molecules were set up in yeast. It would be fantastic if these systems could be assembled in plants to study the dynamics of hormone signaling in regulatory regions located upstream of promoters.

Finally, our focus here has been on the events that occur before transcription initiation and in close proximity of promoters. Other promising areas of research emerge well before and after transcription initiation. How is Mediator involved in establishing domains in the nuclear space and long-range interactions? What are the roles of Mediator after the polymerase leaves the promoter? There are studies working on these questions. Fortunately, there is still a lot of work to be done.

SUMMARY POINTS

- 1. The Arabidopsis Mediator is formed by 29 subunits.
- 2. The Tail module is assumed to bind transcription factors (TFs), but the Head and Middle modules also have significant roles.
- 3. Mediator assembles with TFs at upstream activating sequences and recruits RNA polymerase II (Pol II) before the preinitiation complex is assembled at promoters.
- 4. The CDK kinase module (CKM) may act to activate or repress transcription.
- 5. The CKM is evicted from Mediator before Pol II is recruited.
- 6. High-resolution models show that Mediator positions the C-terminal domain to facilitate phosphorylation.

- 7. MED14 functions as a structural component, providing the backbone for the assembly of the Mediator complex.
- 8. CKM kinase activity is necessary for transcription regulation.
- 9. Mediator nucleates hormone signaling at gene regulatory regions.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the Argentine Agencia Nacional de Promoción Científica y Tecnológica grants PICT-2019-01654 and PICT-2020 SERIE A-01430 awarded to P.D.C. We thank María Eugenia Weksler for her assistance with **Figure 2**. We apologize to all colleagues whose work was not included for reasons of space constraints.

LITERATURE CITED

- 1. Abdella R, Talyzina A, Chen S, Inouye CJ, Tjian R, He Y. 2021. Structure of the human Mediatorbound transcription preinitiation complex. *Science* 372:52–56
- 2. Agrawal R, Jiri F, Thakur JK. 2021. The kinase module of the Mediator complex: an important signalling processor for the development and survival of plants. *J. Exp. Bot.* 72:224–40
- 3. An C, Li L, Zhai Q, You Y, Deng L, et al. 2017. Mediator subunit MED25 links the jasmonate receptor to transcriptionally active chromatin. *PNAS* 114:E8930–39
- Anandhakumar J, Moustafa YW, Chowdhary S, Kainth AS, Gross DS. 2016. Evidence for multiple Mediator complexes in yeast independently recruited by activated heat shock factor. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 36:1943–60
- Asturias FJ, Jiang YW, Myers LC, Gustafsson CM, Kornberg RD. 1999. Conserved structures of mediator and RNA polymerase II holoenzyme. *Science* 283:985–87
- Autran D, Jonak C, Belcram K, Beemster GTS, Kronenberger J, et al. 2002. Cell numbers and leaf development in *Arabidopsis*: a functional analysis of the *STRUWWELPETER* gene. *EMBO J*. 21:6036–49
- Bäckström S, Elfving N, Nilsson R, Wingsle G, Björklund S. 2007. Purification of a plant Mediator from *Arabidopsis thaliana* identifies PFT1 as the Med25 subunit. *Mol. Cell* 26:717– 29
- 8. Baek I, Friedman LJ, Gelles J, Buratowski S. 2021. Single-molecule studies reveal branched pathways for activator-dependent assembly of RNA polymerase II pre-initiation complexes. *Mol. Cell* 81:3576–88.e6
- 9. Baidoobonso SM, Guidi BW, Myers LC. 2007. Med19(Rox3) regulates intermodule interactions in the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* Mediator complex. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282:5551–59
- Bajracharya A, Xi J, Grace KF, Bayer EE, Grant CA, et al. 2022. PHYTOCHROME-INTERACTING FACTOR 4/HEMERA-mediated thermosensory growth requires the Mediator subunit MED14. *Plant Physiol.* 190:2706–21
- 11. Ballare CL. 2014. Light regulation of plant defense. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 65:335-63
- Bonawitz ND, Kim JI, Tobimatsu Y, Ciesielski PN, Anderson NA, et al. 2014. Disruption of Mediator rescues the stunted growth of a lignin-deficient *Arabidopsis* mutant. *Nature* 509:376–80
- Bonawitz ND, Soltau WL, Blatchley MR, Powers BL, Hurlock AK, et al. 2012. REF4 and RFR1, subunits of the transcriptional coregulatory complex Mediator, are required for phenylpropanoid homeostasis in *Arabidopsis. J. Biol. Chem.* 287:5434–45

1. Determined the cryo-electron microscopy structure of the hMed bound to a preinitiation complex.

3. Shows that MED25 integrates jasmonic acid signals at the promoters of MYC2 targets.

7. First purification of a plant Mediator complex.

8. Shows that Pol II, TFIIF, and TFIIE preassemble on UASs before loading into PICs. 22. Determined the cryo-electron microscopy structure of the TFIID-based PIC-hMed complex.

- Bourbon H-M. 2008. Comparative genomics supports a deep evolutionary origin for the large, fourmodule transcriptional mediator complex. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 36:3993–4008
- Boyce JM, Knight H, Deyholos M, Openshaw MR, Galbraith DW, et al. 2003. The *sfr6* mutant of *Arabidopsis* is defective in transcriptional activation via CBF/DREB1 and DREB2 and shows sensitivity to osmotic stress. *Plant J*. 34:395–406
- Caillaud M-C, Asai S, Rallapalli G, Piquerez S, Fabro G, Jones JDG. 2013. A downy mildew effector attenuates salicylic acid-triggered immunity in Arabidopsis by interacting with the host mediator complex. *PLOS Biol.* 11:e1001732. Erratum. 2016. *PLOS Biol.* 14:e1002408
- 17. Canet JV, Dobon A, Tornero P. 2012. *Non-recognition-of-BTH4*, an *Arabidopsis* Mediator subunit homolog, is necessary for development and response to salicylic acid. *Plant Cell* 24:4220–35
- 18. Cerdán PD, Chory J. 2003. Regulation of flowering time by light quality. Nature 423:881-85
- Cevher MA, Shi Y, Li D, Chait BT, Malik S, Roeder RG. 2014. Reconstitution of active human core Mediator complex reveals a critical role of the MED14 subunit. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 21:1028–34
- Chen J, Mohan R, Zhang Y, Li M, Chen H, et al. 2019. NPR1 promotes its own and target gene expression in plant defense by recruiting CDK8. *Plant Physiol.* 181:289–304
- Chen X, Xu Y. 2022. Structural insights into assembly of transcription preinitiation complex. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 75:102404
- 22. Chen X, Yin X, Li J, Wu Z, Qi Y, et al. 2021. Structures of the human Mediator and Mediatorbound preinitiation complex. *Science* 372:eabg0635
- Cheng SLH, Wu HW, Xu H, Singh RM, Yao T, et al. 2022. Nutrient status regulates MED19a phase separation for ORESARA1-dependent senescence. *New Phytol.* 236:1779–95
- Cheng SLH, Xu H, Ng JHT, Chua NH. 2023. Systemic movement of long non-coding RNA ELENA1 attenuates leaf senescence under nitrogen deficiency. Nat. Plants 9:1598–606
- Chhun T, Chong SY, Park BS, Wong ECC, Yin J-L, et al. 2016. HSI2 repressor recruits MED13 and HDA6 to down-regulate seed maturation gene expression directly during Arabidopsis early seedling growth. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 57:1689–706
- Crawford T, Karamat F, Lehotai N, Rentoft M, Blomberg J, et al. 2020. Specific functions for Mediator complex subunits from different modules in the transcriptional response of *Arabidopsis thaliana* to abiotic stress. *Sci. Rep.* 10:5073
- 27. Davis JA, Takagi Y, Kornberg RD, Asturias FA. 2002. Structure of the yeast RNA polymerase II holoenzyme: Mediator conformation and polymerase interaction. *Mol. Cell* 10:409–15
- Davoine C, Abreu IN, Khajeh K, Blomberg J, Kidd BN, et al. 2017. Functional metabolomics as a tool to analyze Mediator function and structure in plants. *PLOS ONE* 12:e0179640
- Dhawan R, Luo H, Foerster AM, AbuQamar S, Du H-N, et al. 2009. HISTONE MONOUBIQUITINATION1 interacts with a subunit of the mediator complex and regulates defense against necrotrophic fungal pathogens in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* 21:1000–19
- 30. Dolan WL, Chapple C. 2018. Transcriptome analysis of four *Arabidopsis thaliana* Mediator tail mutants reveals overlapping and unique functions in gene regulation. *G3* 8:3093–108
- Dolan WL, Dilkes BP, Stout JM, Bonawitz ND, Chapple C. 2017. Mediator complex subunits MED2, MED5, MED16, and MED23 genetically interact in the regulation of phenylpropanoid biosynthesis. *Plant Cell* 29:3269–85
- Dotson MR, Yuan CX, Roeder RG, Myers LC, Gustafsson CM, et al. 2000. Structural organization of yeast and mammalian mediator complexes. *PNAS* 97:14307–10
- 33. El Khattabi L, Zhao H, Kalchschmidt J, Young N, Jung S, et al. 2019. A pliable Mediator acts as a functional rather than an architectural bridge between promoters and enhancers. *Cell* 178:1145–58.e20
- Elmlund H, Baraznenok V, Lindahl M, Samuelsen CO, Koeck PJB, et al. 2006. The cyclin-dependent kinase 8 module sterically blocks Mediator interactions with RNA polymerase II. PNAS 103:15788–93
- Feng Q, Li L, Liu Y, Shao X, Li X. 2021. Jasmonate regulates the FAMA/mediator complex subunit 8-THIOGLUCOSIDE GLUCOHYDROLASE 1 cascade and myrosinase activity. *Plant Physiol*. 187:963–80
- Flanagan PM, Kelleher RJ, Sayre MH, Tschochner H, Kornberg RD. 1991. A mediator required for activation of RNA polymerase II transcription *in vitro*. *Nature* 350:436–38

www.annualreviews.org • The Plant Mediator Complex 233

- 37. Fornero C, Rickerd T, Kirik V. 2019. Papillae formation on *Arabidopsis* leaf trichomes requires the function of Mediator tail subunits 2, 14, 15a, 16, and 25. *Planta* 249:1063–71
- Freytes SN, Canelo M, Cerdán PD. 2021. Regulation of flowering time: when and where? *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 63:102049
- Gillmor CS, Park MY, Smith MR, Pepitone R, Kerstetter RA, Poethig RS. 2010. The MED12-MED13 module of Mediator regulates the timing of embryo patterning in *Arabidopsis*. *Development* 137:113–22
- Gillmor CS, Silva-Ortega CO, Willmann MR, Buendía-Monreal M, Poethig RS. 2014. The Arabidopsis Mediator CDK8 module genes CCT (MED12) and GCT (MED13) are global regulators of developmental phase transitions. Development 141:4580–89
- Giustozzi M, Freytes SN, Jaskolowski A, Lichy M, Mateos J, et al. 2022. Arabidopsis mediator subunit 17 connects transcription with DNA repair after UV-B exposure. *Plant J*. 110:1047–67
- 42. Gonzalez D, Bowen AJ, Carroll TS, Conlan RS. 2007. The transcription corepressor LEUNIG interacts with the histone deacetylase HDA19 and mediator components MED14 (SWP) and CDK8 (HEN3) to repress transcription. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 27:5306–15
- 43. Gonzalez D, Hamidi N, Del Sol R, Benschop JJ, Nancy T, et al. 2014. Suppression of Mediator is regulated by Cdk8-dependent Grr1 turnover of the Med3 coactivator. *PNAS* 111:2500–5
- Gromoller A, Lehming N. 2000. Srb7p is a physical and physiological target of Tup1p. EMBO J. 19:6845-52
- 45. Guglielmi B, van Berkum NL, Klapholz B, Bijma T, Boube M, et al. 2004. A high resolution protein interaction map of the yeast Mediator complex. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 32:5379–91
- 46. Guo J, Wei L, Chen S-S, Cai X-W, Su Y-N, et al. 2021. The CBP/p300 histone acetyltransferases function as plant-specific MEDIATOR subunits in *Arabidopsis. J. Integr. Plant Biol.* 63:755–71
- Guo P, Chong L, Wu F, Hsu CC, Li C, et al. 2021. Mediator tail module subunits MED16 and MED25 differentially regulate abscisic acid signaling in *Arabidopsis. J. Integr. Plant Biol.* 63:802–15
- Haffner E, Konietzki S, Diederichsen E. 2015. Keeping control: the role of senescence and development in plant pathogenesis and defense. *Plants* 4:449–88
- 49. Hallberg M, Hu GZ, Tronnersjo S, Adler D, Balciunas D, et al. 2006. Functional and physical interactions within the middle domain of the yeast mediator. *Mol. Genet. Genom.* 276:197–210
- Hasan ASMM, Vander Schoor JK, Hecht V, Weller JL. 2020. The CYCLIN-DEPENDENT KINASE module of the Mediator complex promotes flowering and reproductive development in pea. *Plant Physiol.* 182:1375–86
- He H, Denecker J, Van Der Kelen K, Willems P, Pottie R, et al. 2021. The Arabidopsis mediator complex subunit 8 regulates oxidative stress responses. *Plant Cell* 33:2032–57
- Hemsley PA, Hurst CH, Kaliyadasa E, Lamb R, Knight MR, et al. 2014. The *Arabidopsis* mediator complex subunits MED16, MED14, and MED2 regulate mediator and RNA polymerase II recruitment to CBF-responsive cold-regulated genes. *Plant Cell* 26:465–84
- Hetherington FM, Kakkar M, Topping JF, Lindsey K. 2021. Gibberellin signaling mediates lateral root inhibition in response to K⁺-deprivation. *Plant Physiol.* 185:1198–215
- 54. Holstege FC, Jennings EG, Wyrick JJ, Lee TI, Hengartner CJ, et al. 1998. Dissecting the regulatory circuitry of a eukaryotic genome. *Cell* 95:717–28
- Huerta-Venegas PI, Raya-González J, López-García CM, Barrera-Ortiz S, Ruiz-Herrera LF, López-Bucio J. 2022. Mutation of *MEDLATOR16* promotes plant biomass accumulation and root growth by modulating auxin signaling. *Plant Sci.* 314:111117
- Hyun Y, Richter R, Vincent C, Martinez-Gallegos R, Porri A, Coupland G. 2016. Multi-layered regulation of SPL15 and cooperation with SOC1 integrate endogenous flowering pathways at the *Arabidopsis* shoot meristem. *Dev. Cell* 37:254–66
- Imasaki T, Calero G, Cai G, Tsai KL, Yamada K, et al. 2011. Architecture of the Mediator head module. *Nature* 475:240–43
- Iñigo S, Giraldez AN, Chory J, Cerdán PD. 2012. Proteasome-mediated turnover of Arabidopsis MED25 is coupled to the activation of *FLOWERING LOCUS T* transcription. *Plant Physiol*. 160:1662–73
- 59. Ito J, Fukaki H, Onoda M, Li L, Li C, et al. 2016. Auxin-dependent compositional change in Mediator in ARF7- and ARF19-mediated transcription. *PNAS* 113:6562–67

46. Describes the purification of an almost complete plant Mediator complex.

59. Shows that auxin signaling at UASs causes the dissociation of CKM to promote auxin-inducible transcription.

- Ito J, Sono T, Tasaka M, Furutani M. 2011. MACCHI-BOU 2 is required for early embryo patterning and cotyledon organogenesis in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell Physiol. 52:539–52
- Ito M, Okano HJ, Darnell RB, Roeder RG. 2002. The TRAP100 component of the TRAP/Mediator complex is essential in broad transcriptional events and development. *EMBO J*. 21:3464–75
- 62. Jaskolowski A, Iñigo S, Arellano SM, Arias LA, Fiol DF, et al. 2019. The MED30 subunit of mediator complex is essential for early plant development and promotes flowering in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Development* 146:dev175224
- Jeronimo C, Langelier M-F, Bataille AR, Pascal JM, Pugh BF, Robert F. 2016. Tail and kinase modules differently regulate core mediator recruitment and function in vivo. *Mol. Cell* 64:455–66
- Jumper J, Evans R, Pritzel A, Green T, Figurnov M, et al. 2021. Highly accurate protein structure prediction with AlphaFold. *Nature* 596:583–89
- 65. Kazan K. 2017. The multitalented MEDIATOR25. Front. Plant Sci. 8:999
- 66. Kidd BN, Edgar CI, Kumar KK, Aitken EA, Schenk PM, et al. 2009. The mediator complex subunit PFT1 is a key regulator of jasmonate-dependent defense in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* 21:2237–52
- 67. Kim JI, Zhang X, Pascuzzi PE, Liu C-J, Chapple C. 2020. Glucosinolate and phenylpropanoid biosynthesis are linked by proteasome-dependent degradation of PAL. *New Phytol.* 225:154–68
- Kim MJ, Jang I-C, Chua N-H. 2016. The Mediator complex MED15 subunit mediates activation of downstream lipid-related genes by the WRINKLED1 transcription factor. *Plant Physiol*. 171:1951–64
- 69. Kim S, Gross DS. 2013. Mediator recruitment to heat shock genes requires dual Hsf1 activation domains and mediator tail subunits Med15 and Med16. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288:12197–213
- Kim YJ, Bjorklund S, Li Y, Sayre MH, Kornberg RD. 1994. A multiprotein mediator of transcriptional activation and its interaction with the C-terminal repeat domain of RNA polymerase II. *Cell* 77:599–608
- Kim YJ, Zheng B, Yu Y, Won SY, Mo B, Chen X. 2011. The role of Mediator in small and long noncoding RNA production in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *EMBO J*. 30:814–22
- Klose C, Buche C, Fernandez AP, Schafer E, Zwick E, Kretsch T. 2012. The mediator complex subunit PFT1 interferes with COP1 and HY5 in the regulation of Arabidopsis light signaling. *Plant Physiol*. 160:289–307
- Knight H, Mugford SG, Ülker B, Gao D, Thorlby G, Knight MR. 2009. Identification of SFR6, a key component in cold acclimation acting post-translationally on CBF function. *Plant J*. 58:97–108
- Knight H, Thomson AJW, McWatters HG. 2008. SENSITIVE TO FREEZING6 integrates cellular and environmental inputs to the plant circadian clock. *Plant Physiol.* 148:293–303
- Knight H, Veale EL, Warren GJ, Knight MR. 1999. The sfr6 mutation in Arabidopsis suppresses lowtemperature induction of genes dependent on the CRT/DRE sequence motif. Plant Cell 11:875–86
- Koschubs T, Lorenzen K, Baumli S, Sandstrom S, Heck AJ, Cramer P. 2010. Preparation and topology of the Mediator middle module. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38:3186–95
- 77. Kumar KRR, Blomberg J, Bjorklund S. 2018. The MED7 subunit paralogs of Mediator function redundantly in development of etiolated seedlings in Arabidopsis. *Plant J*. 96:578–94
- Lariviere L, Plaschka C, Seizl M, Petrotchenko EV, Wenzeck L, et al. 2013. Model of the Mediator middle module based on protein cross-linking. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41:9266–73
- Lariviere L, Plaschka C, Seizl M, Wenzeck L, Kurth F, Cramer P. 2012. Structure of the Mediator head module. *Nature* 492:448–51
- Lee M, Dominguez-Ferreras A, Kaliyadasa E, Huang WJ, Antony E, et al. 2021. Mediator subunits MED16, MED14, and MED2 are required for activation of ABRE-dependent transcription in Arabidopsis. *Front. Plant Sci.* 12:649720
- Leydon AR, Wang W, Gala HP, Gilmour S, Juarez-Solis S, et al. 2021. Repression by the *Arabidopsis* TOPLESS corepressor requires association with the core mediator complex. *eLife* 10:e66739
- Li HJ, Zhu SS, Zhang MX, Wang T, Liang L, et al. 2015. Arabidopsis CBP1 is a novel regulator of transcription initiation in central cell-mediated pollen tube guidance. *Plant Cell* 27:2880–93
- Li W, Yoshida A, Takahashi M, Maekawa M, Kojima M, et al. 2015. SAD1, an RNA polymerase I subunit A34.5 of rice, interacts with Mediator and controls various aspects of plant development. *Plant J*. 81:282– 91

- Li X, Yang R, Chen H. 2018. The Arabidopsis thaliana Mediator subunit MED8 regulates plant immunity to Botrytis Cinerea through interacting with the basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factor FAMA. PLOS ONE 13:e0193458
- 85. Li Y-C, Chao T-C, Kim HJ, Cholko T, Chen S-F, et al. 2021. Structure and noncanonical Cdk8 activation mechanism within an Argonaute-containing Mediator kinase module. *Sci. Adv.* 7:eabd4484
- 86. Liu Q, Bischof S, Harris CJ, Zhong Z, Zhan L, et al. 2020. The characterization of Mediator 12 and 13 as conditional positive gene regulators in Arabidopsis. *Nat. Commun.* 11:2798
- Liu Z, Chen G, Gao F, Xu R, Li N, et al. 2019. Transcriptional repression of the APC/C activator genes CCS52A1/A2 by the Mediator complex subunit MED16 controls endoreduplication and cell growth in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 31:1899–912
- Ma M, Li M, Zhou R, Yu J-B, Wu Y, et al. 2023. CPR5 positively regulates pattern-triggered immunity via a mediator protein. *J. Integr. Plant Biol.* 65:1613–19
- 89. Maji S, Dahiya P, Waseem M, Dwivedi N, Bhat DS, et al. 2019. Interaction map of *Arabidopsis* Mediator complex expounding its topology. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 47:3904–20
- Mao X, Kim JI, Wheeler MT, Heintzelman AK, Weake VM, Chapple C. 2019. Mutation of Mediator subunit CDK8 counteracts the stunted growth and salicylic acid hyperaccumulation phenotypes of an Arabidopsis MED5 mutant. New Phytol. 223:233–45
- Mathur S, Vyas S, Kapoor S, Tyagi AK. 2011. The Mediator complex in plants: structure, phylogeny, and expression profiling of representative genes in a dicot (Arabidopsis) and a monocot (rice) during reproduction and abiotic stress. *Plant Physiol.* 157:1609–27
- Monté D, Clantin B, Dewitte F, Lens Z, Rucktooa P, et al. 2018. Crystal structure of human Mediator subunit MED23. Nat. Commun. 9:3389
- 93. Nagulapalli M, Maji S, Dwivedi N, Dahiya P, Thakur JK. 2016. Evolution of disorder in Mediator complex and its functional relevance. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 44:1591–612
- 94. Nguyen VQ, Ranjan A, Liu S, Tang X, Ling YH, et al. 2021. Spatiotemporal coordination of transcription preinitiation complex assembly in live cells. *Mol. Cell* 81:3560–75.e6
- 95. Nonet ML, Young RA. 1989. Intragenic and extragenic suppressors of mutations in the heptapeptide repeat domain of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* RNA polymerase II. *Genetics* 123:715–24
- Nozawa K, Schneider TR, Cramer P. 2017. Core Mediator structure at 3.4 A extends model of transcription initiation complex. *Nature* 545:248–51
- 97. Osman S, Mohammad E, Lidschreiber M, Stuetzer A, Bazso FL, et al. 2021. The Cdk8 kinase module regulates interaction of the mediator complex with RNA polymerase II. *7. Biol. Chem.* 296:100734
- 98. Peng S, Guo D, Guo Y, Zhao H, Mei J, et al. 2022. CONSTITUTIVE EXPRESSER OF PATHOGENESIS-RELATED GENES 5 is an RNA-binding protein controlling plant immunity via an RNA processing complex. *Plant Cell* 34:1724–44
- Petrenko N, Jin Y, Wong KH, Struhl K. 2016. Mediator undergoes a compositional change during transcriptional activation. *Mol. Cell* 64:443–54
- 100. Plaschka C, Larivière L, Wenzeck L, Seizl M, Hemann M, et al. 2015. Architecture of the RNA polymerase II–Mediator core initiation complex. *Nature* 518:376–80
- Raya-González J, Ojeda-Rivera JO, Mora-Macias J, Oropeza-Aburto A, Ruiz-Herrera LF, et al. 2021. MEDIATOR16 orchestrates local and systemic responses to phosphate scarcity in Arabidopsis roots. *New Phytol.* 229:1278–88
- Ream TS, Haag JR, Wierzbicki AT, Nicora CD, Norbeck AD, et al. 2009. Subunit compositions of the RNA-silencing enzymes Pol IV and Pol V reveal their origins as specialized forms of RNA polymerase II. *Mol. Cell* 33:192–203
- 103. Rengachari S, Schilbach S, Aibara S, Dienemann C, Cramer P. 2021. Structure of the human Mediator–RNA polymerase II pre-initiation complex. *Nature* 594:129–33
- 104. Richter WF, Nayak S, Iwasa J, Taatjes DJ. 2022. The Mediator complex as a master regulator of transcription by RNA polymerase II. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 23:732-49
- Robinson PJJ, Bushnell DA, Trnka MJ, Burlingame AL, Kornberg RD. 2012. Structure of the mediator head module bound to the carboxy-terminal domain of RNA polymerase II. PNAS 109:17931–35

85. Determined the cryo-electron microscopy structure of the yeast CKM.

86. Proposes a role for plant CKM in the induction of light-responsive gene expression.

87. Shows

interdependent MED16 and DEL1 binding to the CCS52A2 promoter to repress anaphase.

94. The authors track single molecules during PIC assembly in yeast cells, revealing their spatiotemporal coordination.

96. Reports the crystal structure of the cMed from *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* at 3.4 Å resolution.

103. Reveals the proximal tail module in the hMed cryo-electron microscopy structure.

- Robinson PJ, Trnka MJ, Bushnell DA, Davis RE, Mattei PJ, et al. 2016. Structure of a complete Mediator-RNA polymerase II pre-initiation complex. *Cell* 166:1411–22.e16
- Robinson PJ, Trnka MJ, Pellarin R, Greenberg CH, Bushnell DA, et al. 2015. Molecular architecture of the yeast Mediator complex. *eLife* 4:e08719
- Sato S, Tomomori-Sato C, Banks CA, Parmely TJ, Sorokina I, et al. 2003. A mammalian homolog of *Drosophila melanogaster* transcriptional coactivator intersex is a subunit of the mammalian Mediator complex. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278:49671–74
- Sato S, Tomomori-Sato C, Banks CA, Sorokina I, Parmely TJ, et al. 2003. Identification of mammalian Mediator subunits with similarities to yeast Mediator subunits Srb5, Srb6, Med11, and Rox3. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278:15123–27
- Sato S, Tomomori-Sato C, Parmely TJ, Florens L, Zybailov B, et al. 2004. A set of consensus mammalian Mediator subunits identified by multidimensional protein identification technology. *Mol. Cell* 14:685–91
- Schilbach S, Hantsche M, Tegunov D, Dienemann C, Wigge C, et al. 2017. Structures of transcription pre-initiation complex with TFIIH and Mediator. *Nature* 551:204–9
- 112. Shaikhali J, Davoine C, Bjorklund S, Wingsle G. 2016. Redox regulation of the MED28 and MED32 mediator subunits is important for development and senescence. *Protoplasma* 253:957–63
- Shapulatov U, van Zanten M, van Hoogdalem M, Meisenburg M, van Hall A, et al. 2023. The Mediator complex subunit MED25 interacts with HDA9 and PIF4 to regulate thermomorphogenesis. *Plant Physiol.* 192:582–600
- Stevens JL, Cantin GT, Wang G, Shevchenko A, Shevchenko A, Berk AJ. 2002. Transcription control by E1A and MAP kinase pathway via Sur2 mediator subunit. *Science* 296:755–58
- 115. Stout J, Romero-Severson E, Ruegger MO, Chapple C. 2008. Semidominant mutations in *Reduced Epidermal Fluorescence* 4 reduce phenylpropanoid content in Arabidopsis. *Genetics* 178:2237–51
- Sun W, Han H, Deng L, Sun C, Xu Y, et al. 2020. Mediator subunit MED25 physically interacts with PHYTOCHROME INTERACTING FACTOR4 to regulate shade-induced hypocotyl elongation in tomato. *Plant Physiol.* 184:1549–62
- Taatjes DJ, Näär AM, Andel F 3rd, Nogales E, Tjian R. 2002. Structure, function, and activator-induced conformations of the CRSP coactivator. *Science* 295:1058–62
- Takagi Y, Calero G, Komori H, Brown JA, Ehrensberger AH, et al. 2006. Head module control of mediator interactions. *Mol. Cell* 23:355–64
- Takahashi H, Parmely TJ, Sato S, Tomomori-Sato C, Banks CA, et al. 2011. Human mediator subunit MED26 functions as a docking site for transcription elongation factors. *Cell* 146:92–104
- 120. Thakur JK, Agarwal P, Parida S, Bajaj D, Pasrija R. 2013. Sequence and expression analyses of KIX domain proteins suggest their importance in seed development and determination of seed size in rice, and genome stability in Arabidopsis. *Mol. Genet. Genom.* 288:329–46
- Thompson CM, Koleske AJ, Chao DM, Young RA. 1993. A multisubunit complex associated with the RNA polymerase II CTD and TATA-binding protein in yeast. *Cell* 73:1361–75
- Thompson CM, Young RA. 1995. General requirement for RNA polymerase II holoenzymes in vivo. PNAS 92:4587–90
- 123. Tsai K-L, Yu X, Gopalan S, Chao T-C, Zhang Y, et al. 2017. Mediator structure and rearrangements required for holoenzyme formation. *Nature* 544:196–201
- Tsai K-L, Tomomori-Sato C, Sato S, Conaway RC, Conaway JW, Asturias FJ. 2014. Subunit architecture and functional modular rearrangements of the transcriptional Mediator complex. *Cell* 157:1430–44
- 125. van de Peppel J, Kettelarij N, van Bakel H, Kockelkorn TT, van Leenen D, Holstege FC. 2005. Mediator expression profiling epistasis reveals a signal transduction pathway with antagonistic submodules and highly specific downstream targets. *Mol. Cell* 19:511–22
- Verger A, Monte D, Villeret V. 2019. Twenty years of Mediator complex structural studies. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 47:399–410
- 127. Wang C, Du X, Mou Z. 2016. The Mediator complex subunits MED14, MED15, and MED16 are involved in defense signaling crosstalk in *Arabidopsis. Front. Plant Sci.* 7:1947
- 128. Wang C, Yao J, Du X, Zhang Y, Sun Y, et al. 2015. The Arabidopsis Mediator complex subunit16 is a key component of basal resistance against the necrotrophic fungal pathogen *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*. *Plant Physiol*. 169:856–72

- Wang X, Sun Q, Ding Z, Ji J, Wang J, et al. 2014. Redefining the modular organization of the core Mediator complex. *Cell Res.* 24:796–808
- Wathugala DL, Hemsley PA, Moffat CS, Cremelie P, Knight MR, Knight H. 2012. The Mediator subunit SFR6/MED16 controls defence gene expression mediated by salicylic acid and jasmonate responsive pathways. *New Phytol.* 195:217–30
- 131. Wu Q, Tong C, Chen Z, Huang S, Zhao X, et al. 2023. NLRs derepress MED10b- and MED7-mediated repression of jasmonate-dependent transcription to activate immunity. *PNAS* 120:e2302226120
- Xu J, Zhu J, Liu J, Wang J, Ding Z, Tian H. 2021. SIZ1 negatively regulates aluminum resistance by mediating the STOP1–ALMT1 pathway in *Arabidopsis. J. Integr. Plant Biol.* 63:1147–60
- 133. Yang Y, Ou B, Zhang J, Si W, Gu H, et al. 2014. The Arabidopsis Mediator subunit MED16 regulates iron homeostasis by associating with EIN3/EIL1 through subunit MED25. *Plant J*. 77:838–51
- Yao T, Park BS, Mao HZ, Seo JS, Ohama N, et al. 2019. Regulation of flowering time by SPL10/MED25 module in Arabidopsis. *New Phytol.* 224:493–504
- 135. Zhai Q, Deng L, Li C. 2020. Mediator subunit MED25: at the nexus of jasmonate signaling. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 57:78–86
- 136. Zhai Z, Blanford JK, Cai Y, Sun J, Liu H, et al. 2023. CYCLIN-DEPENDENT KINASE 8 positively regulates oil synthesis by activating WRINKLED1 transcription. New Phytol. 238:724– 36
- 137. Zhang F, Sumibcay L, Hinnebusch AG, Swanson MJ. 2004. A triad of subunits from the Gal11/tail domain of Srb mediator is an in vivo target of transcriptional activator Gcn4p. Mol. Cell. Biol. 24:6871–86
- 138. Zhang H, Chen DH, Mattoo RUH, Bushnell DA, Wang Y, et al. 2021. Mediator structure and conformation change. *Mol. Cell* 81:1781–88.e4
- 139. Zhang X, Wang C, Zhang Y, Sun Y, Mou Z. 2012. The *Arabidopsis* mediator complex subunit16 positively regulates salicylate-mediated systemic acquired resistance and jasmonate/ethylene-induced defense pathways. *Plant Cell* 24:4294–309
- 140. Zhang X, Yao J, Zhang Y, Sun Y, Mou Z. 2013. The Arabidopsis Mediator complex subunits MED14/SWP and MED16/SFR6/IEN1 differentially regulate defense gene expression in plant immune responses. *Plant* 7. 75:484–97
- 141. Zhang X, Zhou W, Chen Q, Fang M, Zheng S, et al. 2018. Mediator subunit MED31 is required for radial patterning of *Arabidopsis* roots. *PNAS* 115:E5624–33
- 142. Zhang Y, Wu H, Wang N, Fan H, Chen C, et al. 2014. Mediator subunit 16 functions in the regulation of iron uptake gene expression in Arabidopsis. *New Phytol.* 203:770–83
- 143. Zhao H, Young N, Kalchschmidt J, Lieberman J, El Khattabi L, et al. 2021. Structure of mammalian Mediator complex reveals Tail module architecture and interaction with a conserved core. *Nat. Commun.* 12:1355
- 144. Zhu Y, Huang P, Guo P, Chong L, Yu G, et al. 2020. CDK8 is associated with RAP2.6 and SnRK2.6 and positively modulates abscisic acid signaling and drought response in *Arabidopsis*. *New Phytol*. 228:1573–90
- 145. Zhu Y, Schluttenhoffer CM, Wang P, Fu F, Thimmapuram J, et al. 2014. CYCLIN-DEPENDENT KINASE8 differentially regulates plant immunity to fungal pathogens through kinase-dependent and -independent functions in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* 26:4149–70

136. Shows that CKM plays a positive role in the transcription of seed-storage lipid biosynthesis genes.